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ROBERT DAVID Z3A8, M.D., of lawful age,

called by the Plaintiffs for the purpose of
direct examination, as provided by the Rules of
Civil Procedure, being by me first duly sworn,
as hereinafter certified, deposed and said as
follows:

DIRECT FXAMINATION OF ROBERYT DAVID ZAARS, M. D.

BY MR, PARIG:

MR. PARIS: I have a little

gstipulation I'd like to ask you to go through.

It is stipulated by and between counsel for
the respective parties here that thig deposition
will be used in trial and be taken by Daniel
Davig, pursuant to Ohio BSupervintendent’'s Rule 15
by means of videotaping and audiotape
gimultanecusly and may later, out of the
presence of the witness, transcribe or cause
said videotape to be transcribed and/or cause
said videotape or the transcript thereof to be
filed in the Court of Record. That the video
recording may be edited as directed by the Court
of Record to remove objectionable materials;
that all formalities as to the notice of the
time and the place of the taping of said

deposition, the showing of the videotapes to the
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witness, the gualifications of the officers
before whom taken, the signature of the witness
and the written certification of the officers
before whom taken shall be expressly wailved.
And T take it vou will also waive the one
day £iling reguirement of the deposiition
trangcript as well as the videotape itgelf?

MR. PAPPALARDO: Yes . I mean
that's waived throughout in this case,
everything.

MR. PARIS: Yes .

MR. PAPPALARDO: No sweat.

THE VIDEOTAPE OPERATOR:: We are now
on the record., Will the court reporter please

swear in the witness.

{(Thereupon, the witness was sworn by tHe

notary.)

Doctor, my name 1is David Paris. I represent Mr.
Carl and Patricia Weindel.

Would you please state your full name for
the gjury?
Doctor Robert David Zaas.

And what is your professional address?




1 A 26900 Cedar Road, Beachwood, Ohiog.

2 0. And you are an M.D., a medical doctor?

3 B, Yes, T am.

4 Q. And are you licensed to practice in the State of
5 Ohios

o A I am.

7 Q. And when did you become so licensed?

8 A 1959,

9 Q. And do yvou have a particular specialty?
10 A I specialize in orthopedic surgery.

11 a. And can you tell the jury what orthopedic
12 surgery is?

13 A, Orthopedic surgery 1is a subspecialty that deals

14 with both the medical and surgical problems of
15 the skeletal system. That means the bones and
16 the joints and of their supporting structures,
17 which, of course, includes muscles, ligaments,
18 tendonsg, circulation and nerve control.

19 An orthopedic surgeon, as myself, takes

20 care of conditions that involve the spine,

21 that's the neck, the mid back and the lower back
22 and the extremities, the arms and the legs.

23 . You are a board certified orthopedic surgeon?

25 | Q. And, doctor, is that the highest achievement
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6
attainable in your specialty in this country?
Board certification is the level of excellence
or recognition of a specialist in orthopedic
surgery in this country.

I"'m a board certified orthopedic surgeon
certified by the American Board of Orthopedic
Surgery.

Okay. Could you tell us a little bit about vyour
credentials, your educational background
providing us f£rom the time yvou went through
medical school, vour internships, residencies
and so forth up to the present time?

Well, after T graduated from Case Western
Reserve University in 1953, I went to the
University of Chicago School of Medicine, and I
graduated with an M.D. Degree in 1957.

I then had a one vyvear internship at Mt.
Sinai Hospital in Cleveland, two yvears of
general surgery and neurosurgery training at
University Hospitals and Mt. Sinai Hospital in
Cleveland, and three additional vyears of
orthopedic surgical training.

And T finished wmy orthopedics at Indiana
University, that's at Indianapolis.

And how long have you been in private praclbice?




1 A Actually I have been in the Cleveland area in

™

private practice since 1965,

3 I did spend two years on active duty with
4 the United States Navy, 1 was surgeon for the
5 7th Fleet in the mid 1%60's as, in the early

1) Viet Nam era.

7T 1Q. Would vyvou tell us with what medical

8 orginizations, societies and associations vou
9 are a member?

10 B, I'm a member of the American Medical

11 Asgociation, the Ohio State Medical Association,
12 the Academy of Medicine of Cleveland.

13 I'm also a member of a group of

14 organizations whose membership is limited to

15 orthopedic specialists gsuch ag the American

16 Board of Orthopedic Surgery, the Ohio State

17 Orthopedic Association, the Cleveland Orthopedic
18 Association, and I have been several different
19 officers with the Cleveland group.

20 Q. Could you tell us with what hospitals vou have
21 staff and courtesy privileges?

22 A During, T think, the past ten or eleven vears I

23 have tried to limit all of my admissions,
24 surgeries and teaching responsibilities to Mt.

25 Sinai Hospital, particularly gince they have
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been affiliated with the medical scheol at Case
Western Reserve University.

I also have courtesy privileges, mostly in
the emergency room, at Hillcrest Hospital, 5t.
Luke's Hospital and Suburban Hospital.

You alluded to vour involvement in teaching.

Can you tell us a little bit about that?

I have a number of different respongsibilities
which actually take up at least two full days of
my week, such as I teach at the medical school
in orthopedicg as an instructor, also anatomy,
orthopedic anatomy.

I have been director of orthopedic resident
training at Mt. Sinail Hogspital. I have
responsibilities in arranging ongoing lectures,
what we call bilomechanical and on-hand training
for doctors who have been out of medical school,
but are in training as residents in orthopedics.

And I have also been a member and chairman
of the Northern Ohio Orthopedic Association
Committee for continuing education for doctors
already in practice.

S50 1 have been regponsible for arranging
educational programs and lectures for the

orthopedic doctors in the Northern Ohio area to




)

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

18

19

20

(W
P

22

23

24

25

Q.

continue their education.

I think two weeks ago

chairman of a Saturday

reconstruction and total

Okay. Could vou tell

of the jury if in your
had occasion to examine

Weindel?

Yaesg.,
When was the Ffirst time tha
Well, T saw Mr. Weindel for

October 5, 1983,

Did you obtain a history as

was having?

Yes.

And what was that history?

The history he gave me, that he
knocked down by a car while he

standing on a sidewalk

he told me that he was

gide and from behind

him to be knocked to the

He was taken by ambula

Hospital. He told me he

particularly a cut on

morning

the ladies
prof

and treat M.

on August 5,
stru

by the car,

nce to Ruclid
had

the back of his

[Se]

Saturday I was a

k1 - g
sesgsion on hip

hip surgery.

and gentlemen

essional capacity vyou

Carl

t vou saw him?

the f£irst time on

to what problemg he

wasg struck and

was a pedestrian

1983. And

ck from the right
and thisg caused

ground .

General
some cuts,

skull, and
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that he had to have the cut stitched up or
sutured.

And while in the emergency room, he also
told me that he had pain, not only in his head
where the cut was, but that pain that went down
from his upper back to hig lower back.

And that as he stayed in the emergency
room, I think the accident was later in the day
or later in the p.m., and he was actually in the
emergency room until the newt day, I think till
after midnight, and then he had a set of w-rays
of his entire spine as well as the skull.

And then he was finally released and
allowed to go homwme.

Now, he went on to tell me that most of his
trouble that he had afterward wag with his lower
back. He had some other problems involving hig
neck or upper back, sometimes his shoulder or
arm, but most of the problemg that he had that
continued after this accident wasg for his lower
back.

Now, he told me, when I saw him on October
5, 1983 that after he went home from Ruclid
General, that he received some follow-up

treatment from Dr. Gallo at the Buclid Clinic,
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and Dr. Gallo obtained some additional x-Tays
apparently of his mid or lower back, I guess hisg
ribgs to be wmore gpecific, and that Dr. Gallo
prescribed some pain medication.

And when I saw Mr. Weindel on October 5,
now that's two months after his accident, he was
still experiencing pain in his back. The pain
would seem to start in the mid or lower portion
of his back, wag worse on the right side.

The pain would seem to go to the side and
go up to his shoulder blade or down into his,
really lower waist area of his back.

He complained that when he would rTaise his
right arm up in certain directions that the pain
of his back would get worse.

He also told me that his lower back would
feel bad it he would bend down and lift upward,
and that he had some other symptoms, such as
ringing in the ears, which he felt related to
the head indjury and although better, had not
completely gone away.

S0 basically what he complained to me
about, two months after his accident, was back
pain, mid back and low back pain more on the

right side and aggravated by such things as
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bending and twisting and lifting, and also by
movement of his shoulder blade.

Okavy. Did he give you any past medical history?
Yes.

And what was that?

Well, he told me that he had had a number of
injuries in the past, like he thought it was
1967, IT'm sorry, 1976 or 1977, that he had been
in a motorcyvele accident and had some type of
fractured left hip, and that he was treated by
Dr. Curran, whose is an orthopedic surgeon, that
he was hospitalized for nine days, but didn’'t

have to undergo any surgery at that time.

3

He told me his hip healed up and he didn't

i

have any problems with it once it did heal up.

He told me he was in Viet Nam, he thought
that was in the '60's, and that he suffered a
right forearm gunshot fracture, and that healed
up, with some scarring.

And he showed me some limitation of extreme
turning, but hig right arm was actually gquite
good.

He told me that he never previously had any
significant back injuries or symptoms before

August 5, 1983, told me that most of the time he
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had been doing a type of construction work
related to paving or road work, that tyvpe of a
thing, and that he had never had to misgss any
work time, nor had he had to have any treatment
for hig back for many vears before the August 5,
1983 accident.

Okavy. Did you perform a physical examination on
the gentleman?

Yes.

And can vyou tell us a little bit about that,
both your obijective and subiective findings?
Well, my examination is an orthopedic
examination. Tt is a little bit different then
what one gets when you go to a doctor who
listens to your chest and is looking in vour
throat.

We are interested in, orthopedic surgeons,
basically in the muscles, ligaments, bones,
joints, tendons, use of vour joints, motion of
your spine, strength of vour muscles, things
like that.

When I examined Mr. Weindel he appeared Lo
be muscular, well developed. He was 34 vyears
0ld when I saw him in 1983, And I found some

abnormalities in specifically two areas, one was
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the base of his neck, what we call the cervico
trapezius junction, that's what we call the nape
of the neck, the muscles that connect up fronm
the base of the neck up toward the side of the
neck.

I found at that time gome muscular
tightness, and I found a little bit of
regstriction of bending, but otherwise good
motion of the neck.

I d4id note, however, that when he turned
his neck completely to the right, that this
would cause some pain that went up into the
upper arm.

And I also was able to palpate, not in the
neck itself, but in the trapezius wmuscle, that
is right above the gshoulder blade, some muscle
spasm on the right side.

Can you tell us what muscle spasm is, doctor?
Muscle spasm is an uncontrolled or, how would I
gay, a spontaneous cramping or knotting up of a
muscle, that, in this case, was related to
injury. I think we can call it a charley horse
if it will occur in the leg.

But a muscle spasm is that cramping or

knotting of the muscle that a person feels after
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an injury to a muscle.

Doctor, is that an obijective sign of injury to
the muscle?

Absolutely. One can feel it. In fact,
sometimes one can see it.

Okay. Please continue with vour examination.
Again, certain movements of the right shoulder
caused pain in the region of the trapezius, but
that was the area of the muscle spasm.

Now, I also found some muscle spasm on The
right side in the lower back, I called it the
dorso lumbar muscles, that's the muscles -Just
above the waist where one would have a belt
line, it would be just above that level. And,
again, these, this muscle spasm was limited to
the right side.

When Mr. Weindel bent forward, he could
only do so to bring his, the tips of his finger
to 9 inches to the finger, finger tip to the
floor. I thought that was a moderate
restriction for a young man with good muscle
build, of that young age who, otherwise, was
doing, had normally done heavier work.

I did not f£ind any abnormalities that would

relate to the nerve system of the upper and
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Q.

lower spine,

I daid £ind

the right gshoulder

again, I thought

muscles that

scapular muscles.

Basically the

confusing everybody,

the right of the

Weindel's back from

his

of that all the way

mid and lower back,

stiff, and had sowne

Okay. Does

examination?
Those are basically
Specifically, I
limitation in
clear

in very terms,

midline, the

lower back, showed

Okay. Now,
Weindel gave

examination,

some
and
that

were in

area of

midline, if

shoulder blade s

that complete

just found

differ

shoulder blade to
evidence of
based upon
vou, hi

did vyou

tightness of the muscles of

shoulder givdle, but,

was due to the same

spasm, the trapezius and

the body, maybe 1'mnm

)

the area of the body was to

you looked at Mr.

behind, if you look at where

tarted, going to the right

down toward the wmid to the

those muscles were tender,

gpasm.

vour physical

my positive findings.

certain degrees of

ent areas. But, to put 1t

the muscles to the right of

the mid back, the

injury.
the

history that Mr.

g complaints and vour

formulate a diagnosis?
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Yes.
And what was your diagnosis?
Contusing and/or spraining injuries to the right
scapular, thoracic and dorso Lumbar region with
posttraumatic myofascitis reaction involving the
right trapezius, paradorsal, interscapular and
upper lumbar muscles and ligamentous
attachments.
Can you break that down in layman's terms for
us, doctor?
Sounds clear to me. The, basically we're
talking about spraining or soft tissue injury,
not fractures, not bone in-juries, that involve
the muscles that start from just below the base
of the neck and involve the muscles starting
with the base of the neck, we call it trapezius
muscles, involving the muscles between the
shoulder blades, those are the interscapular
muscles, the muscles that go down a little bit
farther in the back, again, Fjust above the
waist, we call those the dorso lumbar muscles.
And then the lower muscles of the back, those
that go almost to the upper hip area, called the
lumbar muscles.

And ag a result of those soft tigssue
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apraining injuries inflammation, tenderness,
stiffness and muscle gspasm developed,

The word that we use for that coubination
of muscle spasm, stiffness and tenderness is
myofascitis. Since it occurred after injury we
use the word traumatic nmyofascitis.

All I really did, in that long dissertation
about the different areas of the body, was
describe which muscles were injured.

I think it was, again I'11 go back and make
it clear, again, they were the muscles between
the shoulder blades all the way down to the
lower back on the right side,.

Okavy. Did you give Mr. Weindel any
recommendations at that time?

The most important thing that I felt that he
needed was to try to stretch out the muscles
that were bunched up and in muscle spasm.

But, again, I said that he would have to
try to limit from doing really too much heavy
things, because I felt that a lot of excessive
bending or lifting or really repeatedly working
with his right side, his arm, shoulder and back,
would tend to prolong the type of work, the kind

of injury he had., In other words, would make
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Q.

19
hisz healing slower.

50 I did stress certain specific activity
regstrictions. Bven though I did become aware at
that time the type of work he had to do to make
a living.

I thought that he could take heat or put
heat on it, and at the other times maybe take a
pain pill or a muscle rTelaxer,

Okav. Did you formulate an opinion based upon
reasonable medical certainty as to whether or
not Mr. Weindel was disabled from working in
heavy construction as of the date of your
examination?

VYes, I did.

And what was that opinion?

It was wmy opinion as of October H, 1983, that he
gtill had not recovered enocough from the accident
that occurred on August 5H, 1983, that he was
still disabled from working in heavy
construction because of the trunk and spinal
injuries that I described.

Okay. Now, I take it, doctor, you did have a
history that he was a laborer in the
construction field?

Yas. I was more aware that he did things that
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have to do with paving and road paving, and that
type of construction work, ves.

Doctor, T'd like to ask you to assume thatlt Mr.
Weindel had an opportunity to work on a job
construction proiject beginning August 8th, 1983,
and that thisg particular job proiject involving
paving and road work and labor continued and
lasted and he would have been able to work at
that dob through October 30th, 1983,

Now, T'd also like you to assume that he
did not parvrticipate in that dob at all, and I
would like to ask vyou, based upon those assumed
facts, and assume those to be true, do you have
an opinion based upon reasonable medical
certainty as to whether the time off from work
that Mr. Weindel took between August 8th, 1983
and October 30th, 1983 was made necessary and
wags reasonable by virtue of the>injufiﬁs he
gsustained in this accident.

First of all, doctor, do you have an
opinion?

MR. PAPPALARDO: Chijection. Go

ahead.
Yes, I have an opinion.

And what ig your opinion?
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MR. PAPPALARDO: Objection. Go
ahead.
It i¢ my opinion, based on the history given to
me by Mr. Weindel, my physical findings and
review of subseqguent x-rays that Mr. Weindel was
disabled from doing construction work between
August 5, 1983 till the latter part of Cctober,
19483,
Okay. Thank you, doctor.

Now, did you see Mr. Weindel again?

Yes .
And when was that, doctor?
I next saw him on November 28th, 1984.
May I interrupt you just one second.

Would it make any difference to you in the
opinions or the diagnosis that vou made or the
type of treatment that yvou rendered if Mr.
Weindel was, rather than standing On‘the
sidewalk at the time that he got hit, standing
in the street next to the curb?

MR. PAPPALARDO: Obdection.
Would that alter vour diagnosis or vyour
treatment of this gentleman?
None whatsoever. The exact mechanism of the

injury was that he was struck by a car, that
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determined my opinion. That was the history
found most important in determining the
treatment that he needed.

Would it affect you're diagnosis or treatment
this gentleman as to whether he was struck £r
the left side or the right gide?

No, sir.

OCkavy. Moving to the next time vou saw Mr.
Weindel, doctor, when was that?

November 28, 1984.

And can you tell us a little bit about that
vigit?

Well, he told me on November 28, 1984, now we
getting a little bit more than a vear after t

August 5, 1983 accident, that he was still

22

I

of
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fre

he

having problems with his back. He told me that

his lower back had remained somewhat painful and

stiff.

He had gone back to work in road
congtruction. Again, he told me that hisg Fob
was rather heavy and that not always, but at
times he had to do a lot of bending and 1lifti
and twisting and turning, and that he really

never was able to throw off the after effects

ng

of

the August &, 1983 accident in that the constant
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strain of his job Jjust
making too much progres

He told me that hi
sore when he would get
after a nice full night
stiff early in the day.
would go back to work a
keep on the go, in othe

warmed up and kept goin

him tolerate the discon

to work. As soon ag he

g1t down his back would

These type of symptoms he

he never had before August 5,

me his pain, again, was

little worse between Tth

seemed to limit him Ffrom

3 back felt stiff and

up in the morning, aven

g sleep, and that he felt
And that actually 1f he

nd then keep moving and

r words, get rveally

g, his back actually let

fort and he could go on
would finish worlk and
stiffen up again.
specifically said

1983 and he told

on the rvight side, a

@ mid and upper lumbay

spine, that's the lower back again just above

the waist, and pretty m

ueh the same area that he

told me in 1983, although not as much up into

the shoulder blade or upper part of his back,

most of that had gone,
neck had felt better.

But the part that

well below the shoulder

called the low back, ha

up toward the base of the

wasg in the lower parvrt
blade, what we had

d not gotten betterxr. And
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he was a little bit apprehensive in that he knew
the type of work that he had been doing and the
fact that he just wasn’'t making wmuch progress,
he Just didn't feel that he got much better over
a whole year.

He had had some conservative treatment, I
think, by two different doctors, mostly in the
form of either osteopathic or chiropractic type
of treatments, physical therapy.

And these were, he told me, of limited
value, but really didn't give him any lasting
benefit.

Okay. More like temporary relief?

Yes, ves. I think there is two separate doctors
he went to, a few visits each, and none of them
really helped him over a long period of time.
Okay. Pid you perform a physical examination?
Yes.

And can you tell us about that, doctor?

Yes. My examination, again, showed that he had
muscle spasm, this time pretty much confined to
the lumbar spine and going down the middle of
the lumbar spine almost to the waist level, the
belt level and then outward toward the rvight

gside.
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His shoulders could be moved okavy. There
was, you know, some tenderness over the upper
spine, but that spasm that I had noted before in
the upper spine between the shoulder blades had
healed up.

The only thing I found wasg the same area in
the lower back and the right side that was
present in 1983 remained tender in the 1dwer
back, remainded with muscle gpasm.

There was still some limitation of
bending. For instance, Mr. Weindel could only
go forward to about nine or ten inches to get
his finger tips to the floor, and, again, for a
man whose doing the type of work he did T would
have normally thought, with his age, would be
gquite flexible and be able to bend all the way
down. And there was a fair amount of limitation
of motion.

Neurologically, in other words, the nerves
in the legs were all right, they did not show
evidence of pressure or injury.

And, once again, on that examination you were
able to see and palpate muscle spasm?
Yes.

And muscle gspasm is an objective finding that
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you can gee or touch, not withstanding what the
patient tells you?

Yes, that's correct.

Okay. What did you advise Mr. Weindel as a
result of that visit?

Basically the same type of treatments, that's
about all that was really available for this
type of injury, more or less control of his
activities to the best he could within the
confines of his -Hob.

Type of stretching type of exercises, not
straining, but stretching, try to loosen it up,
and aspirin or what we call non-narcotic
analgesic type medication.

Heat was recommended when he got up in the
morning so that he could loosen hig back up
sooner than it was happening when he was telling
me.

Okay. Did your diagnosis remain the same,
doctor?

Yes.,

And at that time, as of November of 1984, did
you have an opinion -- well, let me interrupt
one second.

I'm going to be asking vou a number of
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opinions because of your expertise throughout
this deposition.

When I do ask an opinion, 1f it's okay with
my opposing counsel, I'd like you Tto assume that
it's based upon reasonable medical certainty.

MR. PARIS: I's that okay, Mr.
Pappalardo?

MR. PAPPALARDO: Oh, sure, that's
okay with me. I would hope it would be based on
that.

Okay. I Just want vou to assume that all vour
answers to my guestions regarding your opinion
are based upon reasonable medical certainty.

Doctor, at that time, November 28th, 1984,
did vou have an opinion ag it relates to whether
or not there was a direct cause and effect
relationship between the findings that vou made
in regard to Mr. Weindel's low back injury and
his automobile accident of August Hth, 19837
Yes .

And what was your opinion?

It was my opinion that the soft tissue injuries

I diagnosed and treated were causally related to
the August 5, 19283 pedestrian/auvtomobile injury.

Okay. At that time on November of 1984, did vou
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have an opinion as to the future ocutlook of Mr.
Weindel's injury?

MR, PAPPALARDO: Obdjection.

Yes, T have an opinion.
And -~ he makes me nervous when he obijects.

MR. PAPPALARDO: No, no. That''s
not the basis. It’s not based on reasonable
medical certainty. Don't worry about that.
And, doctor, what was your opinion?

MR. PAPPALARDO: Objection. Go
ahead.

It was my opinion as of November 28, 1984, again
based on the history given by Mr. Weindel, hisg
physical findings, and review of other studies
for corroboration, that the condition that I
diagnosed, the soft}tissue, lower spinal injury
would continue to cause him difficulty
indefinitely.

I felt there was potential for some
improvement in the future.
Okay. Can you tell us a little bit about the
injuries to the muscles and ligaments and
tendons as it relates to somebody like Mr.
Weindel, and tell us what is it about the

dynamics or mechanism of the injury that causes
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chronicity or chronic problems that

the indefinite future? What happens

-

o the spine or the back, particularly

back, are very complex because the

are a very coemplicated

out of various groups.

muscles or ligaments, ligaments being

that hold the bones together,

muscles, of course, being the meat of the back,
that's what lets us move from side to side,

Forward
are
healing,
totally
we tell
and
stretched

will heal.

It is

doctors

On top of

have jobs

make

gsatisfactory healing

and backward,

injure

at rest
them to

strain and

don't have a

it more

but once these portions

d it's difficult to get a complete
because 1f we allow a patient to be

the muscles will stiffen up, if

go out and do a lot of exercise

strengthen themselves, the

out, scarred areas of the muscle never

almost one of those dilemas that

complete angwer to it.

that, certain individuals who

which in themgelves are

strenuous,

difficult to even make a

of the problem because the
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fatigue and strain of the job itself seems to
Limit the amount of healing that will happen on
a day~to-day basis.

S0 when a person goes to sleep at night
naybe they're healing a little bit and they go
back to work and they get so much fatigue that
it tends to make it sore again.

We Gust have more difficulty with laborers
and individuals who have moderately severe soft
tissue injuries and who have to uge their back
lot, and particularly when the indury was a
fajlrly significant one.

Ckavy. Thank you, doctor,.

Did you have occasion to see Mr. Weindel
again after November of 847
Yes .

And when was that?

November 14, 1985,

And can you tell us aboult thalt visit?

Again, Mr., Weindel came in pretty much with the
same gsympltoms. He was still experiencing pain
in his back, and he felt, he told me, though,
that during the last summer that perhaps hig
back wasn’'t guite as bad because he wag doing

gome outdoor road construction.

a




14

1%

16

18

19

[
<

21

22

23

24

31

He waé working, what, three or four days a
week doing paving work. And that with the
weather being very warm for the past mild sumwmer
that we had, except for the stiffness that he
got up in the morning, that he seemed to be a
little bit better than he was once the fall
came.,

He told me that he gtill had to take a hot
tub bath in the morning, even in the summer, in
order to loosen up to go to bed, to go to work,
because his back still felt stiff,

Now, at other times he told me that his
back would get tight again and when the weather
got cooler after September or October he got
much more painful and stiff.

The pain started in his lower back, would
go across his back mostly to the right side. He
wags complaining about some sensitivity of a bone
in the back, in hig lower back on the left side
as well, and that he told me that he would Just
have to stop sometimes and rest or take a warm
bath to relieve hisg symptoms.

He told me, again, that the bending and
Lifting of the type of things that he was doing,

particularly when he was very busy, very
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strenuocus, when he to do a lot of it, would make
his pain worse.

His back always would tighten up after he
would stay guiet for a long time, like when he
went to bed or sit in a chair.

I think breaking that down, that was pretty
much the same type of symptoms that he had in
1984, pretty much the same type of symptoms that
he had in 1983, although in 1983 because he
still hadn't recovered from the upper spinal
symptoms, too.

Bverything after late 1983 has involved the
lower port}on of the back.

Okay. Now, did he also g¢give you a history asg it
relates to any event which occurred in December
of 19847

Yes.

Can you tell us about that?

In December, 1984 he was involved in another
automobile accident when his car was struck by
another car, and this caused him to sustain
fairly serious, what we call antericr pelvic and
bladder injuries.

He actually underwent an emergency

operation to repair a rTupltured urethra. That's
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an injury to the bladder at the base of the
bladder. And he was treated for some olther
extremity injuries, T think an ankle fracture, a
hand injury, some chest problem. Most serious
by far was this anterior pelvic area, really the
lower portion of the abdomen, the lower portion
of the pelvig in the front.
50 in the area of the, above the groin, but the
lower abdomen area?
Yes.
Okay. Did you perform an examination of Mr.
Weindel on that occasion?
Yes.
And can yvou tell us about that?
His examination, he had very much the same
findings that I found in 1984 and 1983,

Specifically, I found some muscle gpasm in
the mid and lower lumbar spine, this time it was
slightly worse on the left side, but he was only
able to forward bend about 7 or 8 inches to get
his finger tips to the floor.

He had some tenderness over the posterior
left sacroiliac joint.

He had slight tightness of left hip

flexion, but other neurological tests were
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normal.

Breaking that down in simple terms,
primarily the same physical findings that T had
noted in the previous examinations were present
in the lower lumbar spine,

There wag just one other area of tenderness
on the left side in the lower sacroiliac area
that hadn't been present before, but that was
about the only change in his physical findings.
Okay, did you take any x-rvays on that occasion?
Yas. I requested x-rays of the lower back, hip
joints and pelvis be obtained.

And what did the lower hack xwrays reveal?
They were basically within normal limits. I
thought a lateral projection there may be a
slight tendency towards straightening of the
lordotic curve. That would be a result of
muscle spasm in the back. Quite borderline
findings.

But Otherwise the back itself was normal.
There was a minor anomaly at the first sacral
segment of no gignificance.

What is that called?
Spina bifida occulta of 5-1.

And what ig that?
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It is an area of the lower portion of the spine
which instead of becoming totally f£illed with
calcium partially remains in a cartilage state.
The spine looks perfectly normal except that
part of the bone is still slightly soft,.
Damtor, do you have an opinion as to whether
that anomaly that you just described has any
significance as it relates to the ongoing
complaints of pain that Mr. Weindel has in his
low back?
No. That's just an individual appearance of a
spine that a person was born with.
Okavy.
I didn't really mention it before, except for
completion.
Okay.
There was, on that same series of w-rays, there
was also an x-ray of the pelvis which c¢learly
showed that there had been some fractures of the
right side of the pelvis.

This, I guess, was related to the Decemnber
of 1984, really right up in the groin, rvight up
under the abdomen, and there was a fair amount
of deformity in the pelvis as a result of that.

There was, also, just outside and above the
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left hip, some, what we call, bony ossification,
that means calcium deposits, not in the hip
socket, but dust in the surface, that apparently
related to a 1976 motorcycle accident.

Okay. Did you make any recommendations to M1,
Weindel at that time?

I unfortunately told him that we did not have
very much more to offer him other than the
conservative treatment, the heat, the activity
restrictions, the type of exercises that I told
him, we call it light stretching and mobilizing
exercises, and he just was not a candidate for
any of the surgical procedures that we might
have, he was not a candidate for something that
we could take him into the hospital for and
cure.

He was basically an individual that had to
be treated over a long term perviod of time with
what we call conservative, nonsurgical
treatment.

Something that would include like heat or
medication or rehabilitative stretching
eXxercises?

Yes, I think we can have many, many different

forms of heat, anything from a hot shower to the
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more superficial types, to the more deeply
ingrained types, such as physical therapy type
of heat which he had received and unfortunately
wasn't very beneficial to him.

Some of those physical therapies include
ultrasonic and diathermy. Then there is some
exercises that we basgically call the William's
Program, that’'s the type of stretching of the
muscles without putting gtrain on that area.

And then really getting back to the most
important thing, trying to avoid putting
excessive strain on an already injured back.
Okay. S0, in other words, if Mr. Weindel was
using a heating pad at home, taking hot bathsg at
home, perhaps his wife would give him a message
a couple of times a week, as it relates to the
low back, take some aspirin when necessary,
these forms of self help, as well as the
stretching would be acceptable, recommended
modalities of treatment, wouldn't they?

Not only that, I'll have to guite interject and
say that’'s all we got. There isn't really very
much more for that type of back condition that

has gone on that long in the absence of bone

changes, surgical changes, neurological
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in view of hig financial

some of the heavier lifting
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Asking vou to assume those

facts to be true, doctor, do

based upon reasonable medical

whether these types

are acceptable for Mir. Weindel?

Yes, Y have an opinion.

And what is your opinion?

Tt is my opinion that the types

degscribed, the various types of

being, him using a heating pad.
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Objection.

guestion in

agsumnes

taking

situati

acti

you

of modalities of

heat,

ultrasonic or

an
that there 1is.

Move

termg of
that Mr.
pad at home on a
hot baths in
that his wife is
a week to the
gome light

ag best he can,
on, to regtrict
vities that he
things, those

have an opinion

certainty as to

treatment

of treatment vyou
heat
Other forms of

some of




6

9

10

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

e
[

25

39
the deeper heat modalities, which he already has
recelived, followed by certain stretceching
exercises, not straining, but stretching
exercises, sometimes called the William's
Exercise Program, which are efforts to tone up,
stretcech out or limber up the back without
putting strain.

And finally the activity restrictions,
which are needed, these are in my opinion not
only the acceptable, but this is what we have to
offer.

We don't have too much more to offer an
individual with this type of back condition at
this stage in the absence of any changes in hisg
Xx—-rays or neurological status.

Okay. Doctor, X'd like to ask you 1if you have
an opinion, as of today, after your November,
1985 examination of Mr. Weindel, if you have an
opinion as to whether a direct cause and effect
relationship exists between the injuries that
you treated Mr. Weindel for and his
avtomobile/pedestrian accident of August 5th,
19837

I do have an opinion.

And what is vour opinion?




n

6

It is
treat
Mr. W
1983

And,

wheth
prese
prima
19837
Yes.

And w
It is
Novemn
Weind
mostl
after
Augus
And d
Weind

findi

40

my opinion that the back condition that I
ed Mr. Weindel for or for which I treated
eindel related by cause to the August 5,
accident.
doctor, do you have an opinion as to

ar Mr. Weindel's present complaints,

nt symptoms, your present findings are
rily due to his accident of August 5Sth,

First of all, do you have an opinion?

hat is vyour opinion?

my opinion, that as of, I think it was,
ber 14, 1985, when I last examined Mr,.

el, that the major degree of his complaints
y those of higs lower back were still an
effect or thus causally related to the

t 5, 1983 accident.

o you have an Qpipion as to whether Mr.
el's present complaints, symptoms and your

ngs are consistent with the type of

injuries he sustained on Rugust 5S5th, 19837

First

that

MR. PAPPALARDO: Obdection.
of all, docteor -~ doctor, let me rephrase
guestion in view of the obijection.

Do you have an opinion based upon
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reagsonable medical certainty as to whether Mr.
Weindel's pregsent complaints, his present
symptoms, your present findings are congistent
with the type of injuries he sustained on BARugust
Sth, 1983,

MR. PAPPALARDO: Objection.
First of all, do you have an opinion?
Yes.
What is your opinion?

MR. PAPPALARDO: Objection.
Mr. Weindel's symptoms, his complaints and my
clinical findings would be consistent with an
injury of the type that occurred on August 5,
1983,
Doctor, do you have an opinion based upon
reasonable medical certainty as to whether Mr.
Weindel's Jlower back indjury is chronic as of
this time?

ME. PAPPALARDO: Objection.
I certainly do.
And what is your opinion?

MR. PAPPALARDO: Obdection.
The word chronic in medicine means over six
months duration. Therefore, it is my opinioﬁ

that Mr. Weindel's condition ig chronic, in
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has lasted more than siy

fact, it has lasted more

you have an opinion based upon
cal certainty as to the prognosis

Weindel s low back

h a prognosis.

¥ prognosis?

PAPPALARDO:: Obdection.

that for his lower back the

fair to fairly good. I

e fact that although he is gtill

mptoms and I'm able to detect
al findings, he has not developed

his spinal x-rays have remained
or arthritic change and he has

complication.
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MR. PAPPALARDO: Obdection.
Yas .
What is your opinion?
It is my opinion, I think it's been repeated
after my 1984 and again my recent 1985
examination, thatlt on the basis of the clinical
course thus far and the tyvpe of syvmptoms and
physical findings that I detected when I
examined Mr. Weindel, that his back pain,
stiffness, the type of limitation of motion will
continue indefinitely.
And, doctor, do you have an opinion based upon
reasonable medical certainty as to whether or
not Mr. Weindel will, in all likelihood, reguire
future medical treatment of a conservative
nature?
Yes, I have an opinion.
And what is your opinion?
MR. PAPPALARDO: Objection.

Again, based on all of the history and the
events that have transpired so far, my physical
findings on three examinations between '3 and
85, that Mr. Weindel will need some further
conservative treatment to his back mostly

outpatient treatment probably in the form of
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therapy modalities and

indefinite
VIDEOTAPE OPERATOR: Fxoeuse me

you.

few more

o

to ask yvou to assume a

for my next couple of
ask you to assume that sometine

Weindel was either in high

high school, he

ray, for ons reagson or the

injured his low back in some

event, the low back Lilm was

injury; that whatever

was was certainly not an

any follow-up medical

low back and certainly

problems of any ongoing

I'd also like to ask yvou to assume that
gsometime in the early *70's, while on the road
construction crew, Mr. Weindel was riding a

tractor and was

accident with a

involved in an

car

auvutomobile

and that he sustained a
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minor soft tissue injury to his low back, for
which he went to Lake County Memorial Hospital
emergency room, and thereafter had no follow-up
medical care or treatment of any kind, nor after
that did he experience any pain, problems or
discomfort with his lower back at any time after
that, and, in fact, returned back fto work on the
congtruction crew within a couple of davs.

Asking you to assume those facts to be
true, do you have an opinion based upon
reasonable medical certainty as to whether those
two isolated events or episodes have any effect
upon Mr. Weindel’'s present low back condition?
First of all, doctor, do you have an opinion?

MR. PAPPALARDO: Obdection to the
form, and obijection.
Yes, T have an opinion.
What is vyour opinion?

MR. PAPPALARDO: Obijection.,
Based on the minor nature of the two back
episodes, as you described, T can't, in any way,
can not in any way relate that those ecarlier
minor problems could in any way relate to the
type of symptoms or physical findings that I

detected when I examined Mr. Weindel, nor do
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they contribute to his present symptoms.
Doctor, do you have an opinion based upon
reasonable medical certainty as to whether the
injuries that Mr. Weindel sustained in his
December, 1984 automobile accident contribute to
Mr. Weindel's present low back problems? First
of all, doctor, do you have an opinion?
Yes, I have an opinion.
And what is vour opinion?
In my opinion, I think that the pelvic fracture
probably indirectly contributes a little bit to
some of the complaints that Mr. Weindel has, not
specifically to his back, but to the complaints
that he has around his sacroiliac joint, that's
way down in the lower pelvic area on the left
side, that type of problem which I did not note
before last month or this month,

His back problem, however, wasg the same
when I recently examined him as it was in
November of 1984, therefore, I do not believe in
my opinion that the December, 1984 pelvic
fracture in any way directly contributes to his
back.

Other symptoms c¢lose to his back, however,

probably do relate to the pelvic fracture.
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Q. Okay. Off the record a minute,.
THE VIDEOTAPE OPERATOR: We will

now go off the record.

(Thereupon, a discussion was had off

the record.)

MR. PARIS: Dawn, I'd like you to
take down that, between Joe and I, we are going
to stipulate that the Euclid CGeneral Hospital
emergency room bill of Auguﬁt.ﬁth, 1983 in the
amount of ©267.75 was made necessary and was
reasonable and necessitated by virtue of the
injuries in this accident.

Ditto for the Euclid Clinic Foundation bill
of $119. Ditto for the Fuclid CGeneral emergency
room visit of August 20th of 83, for which I do
not have the bill as of this time.

Ditto Ffor Dr. Zaas' total bill of 5225,

- . - . “ aow oMo
LA Foe W R ERA A wd WA EF A BRSNS [ ] PNV T N

0 the amount of
$212.

Ditto for Dr. Hocka, H O C K A, his bill in
the amount of $20%5. and that is all.

s that correct, Joe?

MR. PAPPALARDO: ¥

53

g, that’'s right.
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MR. PARTGS: Okayq

THE VIDEOTAPE OPERATOR: We are
back on the record.

MR. PARIS: Thank vou, doctor.

have no further guestions at this time.

48

Now

CROSS-EXAMINATION QF ROBERT DAVID ZAAS, M.D,

BY MR, PAPPALARDO:

Doctor, my name is Pappalardo, and I represen
the defendant in thig case.

Before 1T get started asking vou some
guestions, can I take a peak at vour file?
Certainly.

MR, PAPPALARDO: We can go off.
THE VIDEOTAPE OPERATOR: We will

now go off the record.

(Thereupon, a recess was had.)

THE VIDEOTAPE OPERATOR: We arve
back on the record.
Doctor, how is it that Mr. Weindel came to se
vou?
Mr. Paris referred him to my office.

His attorney asked yvou to take a look at him

Nnow

G

and
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evaluate him for this case?
No, I think he referred him for treatment.
Well, you saw him a total of three times, since
19837
That's vight.
One time in 1983, one time in 1984 and one time
in 19857
That's correct.
Two weeks ago?
Just about, vyes.
November 14th?
Yes.
And you consider that referred for treatment?
Yes, he was referred for treatment, vyes,
I see, bDoctor, tell me what another word for
contusion would be?
A bruise.
S0 when you say he had a contusion injury, vou
are basically saving he bruised his lower back,
ig that pretty fair to say?
He had both contusing and or spraining
injuries. And I think I put that. In other
words, he had both contusing, that’'s bruising,
and spraining, that's tearing of muscles and

ligaments.
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It doesn’'t necessarily mean tearing, does it? I
mean, it can just be a twist of a muscle could
be considered a sprain, rTight?

Well, it depends what yvou break down the word
sprain. Sprain indicates an infjury in which
muscles are either stretched beyvond their
capacity, actually torn or parts of each.

I think we have sometimes used the word
sprain or strain, strain being the more mild
Form, sprain being the more significant form.
50, at any rate, this isg kind of on the
boarderline between a contusion and a sprain and
a strain, it's sort of all in that area?

Yes, 1T was aware that he was both struck,
because the car struck him and he was knocked
down, plus as he fell or was twisted or a
combination of it all he also pulled or strained
muscles, so there were combinations of both.
ALYl right. Doctor, by the way, whether it hasg
an effect on vour opinion or not, he did tell
you that he was on the sidewalk and that he was
hit from the right, isn't that true?
Yes .,

MR. PARIS: Obdection.

Doctor, you saw him about two months, well,
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That's correct.

And were vou aware at that ti

treating with a doctor, an os

Sassano, Dr. David J. Sassano

51

y after the

me that he was also

teopath named

, S A S S5 AN 07

I was aware that he had seen Dr. Hassano. I'm
not sure if he saw him before or after T saw him
in October of 1983. T wasn't aware at that
moment .

Okavy. Well, did you review Dr. Sassano's report

before testifying today?

No. T know what he received.

he received some heat modalit

There was another osteop

there were two separate docto

treatment from.

Yes, we will get to that,.

But they were physical therap

Yes. What did you review bef

today, doctor?

T think we have everything ri

Mr. Paris did appraise me of

treatments

doctors. T think it was four

he received from the two

I was told

1Le8 .

athic doctor also,

that he had

rs

he received &8,
¥

ore vour testimony

ght here. And

the number of

ogsteopathic

treatments f£rom
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one and three or four from the other.

Okay. At any rate, you didn*'t review Dr.
Sagssano’s report, which is available, I have got
& copy here?

No, I have not physically seen that.

All right. Now, he diagnosed a lumbar sacral
gtrain, doesn't say anything about --

MR. PARIS: Objection, Move to
strike.

-— contusions or sgprains here, did yvou know
that?

MR. PARIS: Obijection.

I certainly agree with the diagnosis.

Okay. He saw him twice, saw him on the 6th and
on the 15th. I'm sorry, he saw him three
times. He saw him on the 26th of October
again. On the 15th

MR. PARIS: Four wvisits.

MR. PAPPALARDO: There are four
visits? Ckavy. Well, vou know, It's not
reflected on here, but vou tell me there are
four?

MR. PARIS: Yea.

Okay. He saw him four times. By the 26th of

October he had no complaints except for mild
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spasm of the lumbar spine, that's according to
Dr. Sassanao?

MR. PARIG: Objection.
Were yvou aware of that?

MR. PARIS: Objection and move to
strike. Hearsavy.
No, I have only seen Mr. Weindel on October 5.
He then want to treat with Dr. Sassano
afterwards.
50 after you saw him, Dr. Sassano saw him a
couple of times, and by the 26th, according to
Dr. Sassano --

MR. PARIS: Obtdection. Move to
strike.

MR. PAPPALARDO: Why don't we dust
mark it, then.

MR. PARIS: Good luck. Tt's
hearsay.

MR. PAPPALARDO: It is a business
record.

MR. PARIS: Of who?

MR. PAPPALARDO: Dr. Sassano.

MR. PARIS: Well, are you going to

have hinm

him down

auvuthenticate

at the court

it? bre vou going to

house?

have
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MR. PAPPALARDO: sure., We 1l mark

it.

(Thereupon, Plaintiffs' Ruxhibit No. 4 was

marked for purposes of identification.)

Why don't you take a look at this report,
doctor. Why don't vou fjust review it,
MR. PARIS: Note a continuing

objection. Motion to strike this.

r

It is written on Dr. assano's letterhead
there. Do you see that, Dr. David Sassano?
Yes.

Okay. Would you look at the second page?

Oh, let me get through the beginning first,.
Oh, you want to read through, go ahead.

I have to read before I can tell what you I
have.

Okavy.

I have reviewed the record, and I don't think
you read this complete to me. There are sone
very important f£indings there.

Well, T haven't finished.

Yeas .

Okay. He -~ T'm just concerned with his final
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diagnosis as of the end of his treatment, which
was after you saw Mr. Weindel in October of
83,

He says that he had no complaints except
for mild spasm of the lumbar spine. He was then
again given osteopathic manipulative therapy to
the thoracic and lumbar spine with adeguate
results, do yvou see that?

Yes, but I mean, he still had muscle spasm.
That's a very significant finding.

Well, it says mild spasm?

Yes, that's about what T found.

That's what vou found?

Yes. BEven on October 5, that means he really
didn't improve very much with treatment.
Well, doctor, you would agree it says right
there that the prognosis is excellent, it says
that, doesn't 1t?

I don’t see where you see that.

Well, T see it rvight here.

Oh, okay. Yes at this time he thought the
prognosis at that time was excellent.

Okavy.

He also pointed out that he still had muscle

gspasm as of the last visit.
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Now, see, you are leaving something out. Mild
muscle spasmnm.
Yes.
Okay. And that's all after you saw him back
then in October?
Yes.,
You didn’'t see him again for a whole yvear until
he was sent back to you in November -~

MR. PARIS: Objection.
-— of "84, rvight?
A vear and a month, vyes.

MR. PARIS: Objection as to the
word sent back to him.
He came back to you after a whole year, didn-*t
see you for a whole yvear in bhetween that?
Yes, 13 months, ves.
He was working --
Yes.
-~- during that time.
Yes.
And he came to see you one more time in November
of 19847
Yes.
All right. Now, in your original report vyou

referred to low grade muscle spasm?
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Yes, I think that*s like Dr. Sassano calls mild,
There is a hierarchy of spasmg, yvou would agree
with that, wouldn't you, or a rating of spasms?
I think so. We use the words mild, moderate and
severe, vyes.
S0 low grade would be mild?
Yeg.
That would be the least severe of all of the
muscle spasms?
We could do minimal, slight, boarderline, we can
go down. I mean, it depends how big a
vocabulary vyvou have.

It wasn't the most severe spasm.

Well, T don't have a very big vocabulary, 1'm
sure it’'s less than yours, so we will call it
mild or low grade, all right?
Yes.
Okay. And at all times, his neurological examn
was normal?
Yes, he never had any spinal cord or nerve
damage.,
And, in fact, he could do pretty much all the
maneuvers you asked him to do, but at the upper
limit of those maneuvers he would tell you, he

had some pain?
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1 |A. Well, you mean in 1983 or 19847

2 1Q. We're right in 1983 now.

3 A In 1983 he had some iimitation of the right

4 shoulder. That disappeared by 1984,

5 Q. Okavy. Well, he had some limitation. Well, vou

) said he could get to 140 degrees. Can you show
7 us, youw have the camera on you, can you show us
3 140 degrees?

9 A, Well, zero is at your side, 90 degrees is

10 straight out, two-thirds of the way up beyond
11 that is about 145 degrees, and straight up is
12 180 degrees.

13 Q. Okay.

14 A. And mostly young people, working people, even

15 someone my age can get your arm pretty far up
16 like that, so 140 is three quarters of the way
17 np .

18 | Q. You don't know whether he could get it all the

19 way up, you just stopped at 140 degrees when he
20 told you he had some pain?
21 A Oh, I'm satisfied that’'s the limit he had.

22 Q. You didn't see 1f he could go any further?
23 A. Oh, ¥ certainly did,
24 o, You did?

25 A. Sure.
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Where is that reflected? All it says here is -~
Because that was the limit of the elevation, the
right shoulder could be elevated to
approximately 140 degrees.
Hefore what happened?
That was the limitation?
How do you know that was the limitation.
Because T tested it about five or six different
modalities, lying down, on your side, testing it
straight up, and each different wmethod of
testing and reaching, have him rveach behind hig
head, reach behind his back, go to the gide. 1
checked him with w-1ravy. This is the Llimit I
felt that he could do at that time.
All rvight. At no time has there been a posgitive
finding on an x-ray with regard to the lower
back or shoulder or anything like that, rvight?
Right. These areas that we are describing or
discugsing here, not the pelvig, have never been
Fractured or damaged as far as bones and joints
are concerned.
Okay . S0 13 months after, whalt we were just
discussing, your original report, he comes back
and you say he ambulates, oy as a layman here

like me, he walks normally without a definite
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Timp or list?

Yes, he could walk and he didn't look funny when
he walked, and he didn"t limp.

No tenderness, significant stiffness or spasm in
the upper spinal area?

Yes. That's, I think what I pointed out before,
that the upper half, the shoulder area healed by
the time I saw him the second time.

And the neck, too, for that matter?

Yes.

The trapeziug?

Yes, the upper half of the body.

Now, a low grade muscle spasm vou felt with your
fingers, did you?

Yes.,

Okay. And you note that extreme lateral bending
to the right and leflt causes increased pain?
Yes .,

That would be, again, at the limits of ones
bending?

Well, I felt he could bend fully, but that when
he did bend fully that he would have pain.

He told you that, he told you he had pain?

Yes. I observed his response and I helieve he

had pain, ves.
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And his legs, he could get 80 degrees on the
right and 90 degrees on the left; and 90 would
be 1it, right, that would be the maximum?
Oh, no. I have patients that do a 135, a ballet
dancer that probably could do 140 degrees. She
could lie back and touch her foot right directly
back over her head. That’'™s an unusual
individual.

If a person can straight leg raise bevond
20 or a hundred degrees, especially if vou're
young, talking about people in their 30 s,
that*s all right. We're not talking about
somebody in their 60's or 70%g. But at that
age, 90 degrees is certainly okavy.
S0 he is pretty close to that?
¥ think that straight leg raising wag about all
right, sure.
50 these tests that vou gave, or these maneuvers
you gave him, he performed pretty well at that
point?
Yes. Except for the forward bending he could do
real well.
Okay. The forward bending leaves him aboul nine
inches away from the floor with his finger tips,

is that right?




1 A. That's right.

2 Q. Okay. And I think you note guite honestly that

3 soft tissue injuries are unpredictable and vyou
4 just really can't tell what their course is

5 going to be, you might have real good davyvs and
& you might have some bad days interdispersed

7 there, dust sort of up to what he does to

8 determine whaf his reaction is going to be, is
9 that fair?

10 A. Well, that's part of it. I mean sorlt of picking

11 out some essential things.

12 Part of the problem is the length of the

13 time, and, as you pointed out, a varving degrees
14 of pain, not only during the day and each one

15 day, but from day-to-day, that's correct.

16 And then there is a varyving degrees of

17 relationship of what yvou do as to how bad vou

18 feal. Yes, some of those are correct, ves.

19 10. Okay. And vyou have also noted several times

20 during vyour direct examination that his dob is
21 strenuocus?

22 A. Yesg.
23 Q. End it does put a strain on onesg body?
24 A. Yes, it does.

25 Q. Back and shoulders and all of that?
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It certainty does.
He is a working man, he works with his body all
day?
He certainly does.
Okay. And certainly these paing that one has in
his back or neck or shoulders can occur
completely in the absence of trauma, vou would
agree with that?
No, T would not agree that the presence of
muscle spasm, that type of characteristic pain
and limitation of motion, would relate -HJust to
simple working.
Well, his spasm, have vou ever made an opinion
or belief that it's constant, always?
I don't know. I have only sgseen him three times
and it was each time that T saw him.
Well, d4id he have it the whole time when you
would see him?
Oh, yes, 1t would never disappear.

As a matter of fact, the report yvou showed
me from Dr. Sassano, it was present in each of
hig examinations, alao.

That mild muscle spasm?
Yes.

Okay. At any rate, he has been working during
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those 13 months between November or October of
83 and November of '84, right?

Well, I don't think he works completely. I
think he is connected with some type of
construction where there is outside paving.
Right.

Which I understand, at least what he told me,
and I think I do understand that type of work
that there is part of the time during the winter
when there is no job they can do, so I don't
think he works during the middle of the winter
in that type of construction work.

Okay. However seasonal his work is, when it's
that season he was working?

Yes, he told me three or four days o week, ves.
That's when we come to November of "85, when he
came back to see you again?

Yes .

After another year, rvight, didﬁ't see you during
that year?

Right, been almost exactly a year minus a week
or 80.

Puring this time, doctor, you don’'t have any

information that he’'s been getting any physical

therapy on an outpatient basis or anything, do
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you?
Well, again, I know that he saw Dr. Sassano on
one occasion, then another doctor on another
QCC&%iQﬂ for some therapy. I don*t vecall, T
think that was before November of 84,
Yes. That was all--
I don't think that was afterward.
Yes, that was all back in 837
Yes, I believe,

MR. PARIS: Objection, Be saw Dr.
Hocka in July of 84, August of '84, November of
‘84 .

MR, PAPPALARDO: I meant to say
84,
That was all back in December of 84, And as
far as you know, that is the last physical
therapy he ever had, right?
Right. As I said, I don't think, to my
knowledge, he was treated after I saw him in
November, 1984, before I saw him November, 1985
that's what I mean.
I'm just trying to get clear in your own mind
the last physical therapy he had was in the
December of "84, is that falr to say?

Right. Over a year ago.
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Okay. Now, in spite of all that, you think
sometime in the future he night need to have
gome outpatient physical therapy again?
Yes .
When?
Depends on his physical findings. It depends on
the severity of his muscle spasn. It depends on
the improvement that he might make over a period
of time in the future. I can’t say that.
S0 it would be speculative to say when he might
have to have 1t?
Yes, when would be speculative. The type of
treatwment I'm pretty sure of.
Well, he hadn't had that type of treatement for
over a vyear?
That's correct.

That outpatient physical therapy, that’'s right

Right, but there has been a long period of
interruption when he was treated for some other
conditions where he could not have been a
candidate for it.

It wasn't just a total year that went by.
We are actually dealing with a period of time

when he was not available for his physical
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hospitalization and treatment for this bladder
condition.

Tt was well into the spring or summer when
it was getting warm again in 1985. He said that
he felt a little bit better during the summer.

And then when it came to the fall again, I
gaw him again. S0 I don't know that there was
really much time for him to get treatment in
1984,

At any rate, you didn't send him for physical
therapy when you saw him a couple weeks ago, did
you?

No, I didn't.

A1l wight. 30 he shows up two weeks ago.

Again, he can walk completely normally, no limp,
no list, rTight?

Yes.

Upper spine fully mobile?

Yes.

His -- again, you saw some spasm in the lower
lumbar spine. But it, he looks like he has made
some progress on his finger tip bending, he ig
close to zeven or eight inches from the floor,
right, so he has made some progress?

I suppose you could say that:



10

11

13

14

15

L6

17

18

19

24d

21

22

24

25

69
Well -
I don't know if my measurements are that good.
It was certainly at least as flewible in 1985% as
it was in 1984. He had not lost anvthing.
Okay. 50 he is not getting any worse. And his
leg raising is up to 90 degrees on the right and
8% on the left?
Yes.
He i1¢ close to normal there?
That's correct.
Knee and ankel reflexes are brisk on both sides
bilatervally?
Yes . His neurological, in other words nerves
are normal,
Okay. Good muscle tone and motor power on both
lower extremities, which are the legs?
Strong legs on both sides, yes.
Okay. 50 you told him, you say that, you know,
he should do & light stretching and exercise
program?
Yes.
That's a good thing for almost anybody to do,
isn't it, to exercige? |
I think so, sure.

Stretah. You recommended that.
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You say, long term activity restrictions
were discussed, but you don't actually put him
on any specific restrictions at least according
to this report, except to avoid lenghthy and
prolonged excessive activitieg?
Our long discussion came to the fact that his
skills and his training is in construction,
particularly driveway or pavement, and there is
a dilemma there in that the type of physical
things that he has to do to make that living
Like that are not good for his back. That's
where our discussion came in.
But he can do his job?
He will try to do it as much as he can, not with
medical recommendation, but despite the caution
that continuing to do that job is not going to
make his back heal any better.
Well, it doesn't disable him or anything or lay
him up for two, three days at a time where he
can't get out of bed, vou never had that with
him, have you?
I certainly hope it does not.
I hope it doesn’'t either. And it hasn't?

MR. PARIG: Obdection. If he

knows .
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I really don't know.
ﬁell, if this man had been laid up for two or
three days in bed, don*'t you think he would have
told you since you took such a detailed report
from him?

MR. PARIS: Objection.

I would have thought so. But 1t was my
impression that he couldn't work five days a
week. He was only working three or four days
because by that time his back would get worse,
That was my general impregsion,
Okavy. Well, that might just have been
availability of work, too, for all you know?
That is possible.
Okay. Now, let me ask you about this accident
where he fractured his pelvig and, what, he tore

his urethra?

That's a heck of an injury and trauma to a body,
isn't 1t?

It certainly is.

And you would expect an accident of that
magnitude would give vou a pretty fair whack to
your back and your neck and vyour spine and all

of that, wouldn't you?
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whack to your pelvis. I don*t know that it h
his back.

If it's enough to break your pelvig it's a

pretty traumatic assault on the body?

72

rd

urt

Yes. Again, this is rwight in the front. Now,

let's get this straight. It was the anterior
pelvis in that the pelvis symphysis, that's t
part right above the pubic hair area, and the
portion right in the lower abdomen. That's
where the portion was fractured,

And, to my knowledge, he did not fractur
or injure his back, didn't fracture his back,
that was to my knowledge,

That wouldn't, an accident like that wouldn't
cause any contusion or twisting or bruising?

He said it did not.

ODkay. At any rate, vou say his ma‘djor complai
are an after effect of the August, '83 accide
Yes.

And that his symptoms are primarily due to th
accident, T guess?

The low back and muscle spasm which were the

same in 1983, 1984, 19285 are, in my opinion,

continuing effect of the 1983 accident.

he

e

ntsa

nt?

at

&
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furnished with?
No. The physical findings that I had, I can
assure you in my experience asgs neurology, would
be that he would not £ind any major neurological
abnormalities.
A-lot of what can be done for Mr. Weindel can be
done at home, just the way you described, right,
with showers?
Yes.
With manipulation, message, things like that?
Yes, it can.
Let's dust clear up one thing here. You
suspected maybe a little problem with the
lordosis, the lordotic curve?
Yes.
Well, the x-ray report that yvou Just submitted
to me or Mr. Paris did, mentiong that he hasz a
normal lumbar lordotic curve?
Maybe perhaps we should show the x-rays, and I
can demonstrate why I felt it is boarderline
abnormal . I van actually demonstrate it. Mayvbe
the radiologist didn*t quite pick it out.
Well, you don't have to show me. T just -~
Yes ., But I am prepared to show you why I sgaid

it Maybe the Fjury can see why T feel that it
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ig more straightened.
ALl I asked was whether the radiologist found a
normal lumbar lordotic curve?
Yes. He reported it as normal. I somewhat
object to that. I would be very happy to show
it, b@c&usetl have the w-rays right here. We
can demonstrate it.
Maybe Mr. Paris will want you to. Bll 1 asked
was a simple guestion asg to what the radiologist
found.
Yes. The radiologist wrote that it was a normal
lordotic curve.

MR. PAPPALARDO: Almost done.
Almost finished, excuse me, since we are talking
about grammar here.

Okay. That's all I have, doctor. Thanks .

FURTHER DIRECT EXAMINATION OF ROBERT ZAAS, M.D,

BY MR, PARIS:

Doctor, Mr. Pappalardo was alluding to the fact
that you have only seen Mr. Weindel on three
occasions over a period of two and a half vears
or so.

First of all, s that unusual for the type

of injury that Mr. Weindel received, to see him
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76

Well, it's variable. The type of indury that he

received again gives variable symptoms, but

not, that is nolt rare.

A

The fact that I could not offer him very

much, I certainly don’'t want to -Just have hin

come back and sit in my waiting room, and th
tell him I can't help him any more.

I did not encourage him to come back
excessively 1if I couldn't offer him a lot.
And he didn't come back excessgsively, did he?
No, sir.

As a matter of fact, doctor, if one treats

themselves at home with heat, exerci

ses, Mes

from the wife and some light stretching

2

sAgea

exercises, and it does give them some temporary

relief, do you encourage that for vour patients?

I certainly do.

Now, can one have a normal neurological exam, in

other words, can ones nerves eminating from

back and into the legs and so forth, can tha

examination be normal and one still have a
chronic and disabling indury to the muscles
ligaments of the low back?

MR, PAPPALARDO: Objection.

the

t

and
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Oh, certainly. I think we are talking apples
and oranges, we're talking two different
systems,

One syvstem is the muscle and ligament
system, that's what Mr. Weindel in-dured, muscles
and ligaments.

And there i1s another system, the spinal
cord and the nerves. ITE something goes wrong
with them we get paralyzed, gelt an infection, we
get poliomyelitis, if we get a nerve pressure we

get leg

pain and things.

He never had that. He only had the muscle
and ligament system. r did not personally find
any evidence that he had a spinal cord or nerve
system injury.
dkayu And, doctor, can one have a normal xX-ray
picture of the low back and sitill have chronic
and disabling injuries to the muscles and
ligaments of the low back?

Yes, sir. The same problem that goes with
comparing neurological to muscular. K-rays will
only show us bony type structures, structures
that pick up a positive radio graphic image when
an ®x-ray beam i1 placed through them. All we

see on ¥-rays are shadows of bones.
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Muscles, on the other
Muscles cast no shadow on x-

regardless of what's

will always cast a negative

the x~rays.

Therefore, we ¢can have

bone x-1vay, since the bones
we can have injuries to muscdc

anything on x-ray.

That's pretty much the

problems . You can’'t

to bone problems.

Maybe we can demonstrate

at the same time show the

T

of Mr. Weindel's lower -—-

his lower spine,

Yes, sir. I do have

back.

hand,
“TAaYSs.

wrong with the

rles

comparing neurclogical problems

compare

that for

jury the

I'm

SOome X-rays

are soft,

Therefor

or hollow shado

a perfectly nor
weren't injured
and not sho
same corvelary
with muscul
muscular praobl
the Fdury.
straight

SO0TIry, curve

lumbar spine?

I had of t

Do vou have the lower back?

Yes. There is two views on the lower back.
will demonstrate what I was talking aboutl.
First off, doctor, ag an orthopedic surgeon
have, you read x-rays, you are able to read

X-rays?

muscles,

78

e,
it
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ening
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¥Yes, T rTead thenm, I teach

matter of fact, in a course this

radio, orthopedic
and residents.
It's

imperative that vou know

X-rays?

Oh, ves. That is part of our
Now, we have two views of the

Weindel taken November 14, 1985,

One view let's see are we
I &

this one over here? One view is

of his lower back and we can see

ribs and, below, the pelvic area.
The view on the opposite

a side view. This view shows

blocks of bone.

lower back, one, two, three,

This i1s a side view of Mr,

his her back here and tummy up

we're looking in the gide view.

Now, the bones are all

any real abnormality in

throughout the back really of

What, I pointed out about

lordosis, that means the

it. We

radiology to me

how

training.

gpine of

There is five vertebra in
four

Weindel .

normal,

any of the

the

sway back ovr

79
gave, as a
morning on
dical students

to read

Yes.

Carl

focuzed in on

a front on view
the, above, the

side over here is

the vertebra or

the

, Five,

in front, so0

I don't see

bones

significance.

gso-called

the
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natural curve of the lower back, if vou look at
the side view of his lower back, the lower back
is really almost straight here. There is a
slight curve going backward, but I think it isgs
somewhat straightened and it is not the usual
tyvpe of, vou know, very deep curve that we get
with people whose muscles are not too tight ov
too firm.

That’s the only thing, as a matter of fact,
that I can see as an abnormality in that =wn-ray
that struck me ag not being entirely right.
That seems to be that the muscle spasm has
created a bit of stiffness in that lordotic
curve.

So, Doctor, yvour opinion based upon reasonable
medical certainty i3 that the absence of that
curve at the lumbar spine is related to what?
Muscle spasm.

Which, in turn, was caused by the accident of
August Sth, 198237

Yes, sirtr.

Okay. And to demonstrate, the £ilm actually
only shows the bones and it doesn't show the
muscles or the soft tissuesg?

That's correct. All the white structures that
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Q.

g1
we are gseeing in both views are bones. We
really don't see anything if we go back here
where my pencil is going up and down, -just pure
black. S0 that muscle just casts a totally
black shadow,. We don't see anvyvthing back there,

MR. PARIS: Okay. Thank you very

much, doctor, I have no further guestions.
FURTHER CROSS-EXAMINATION OF ROBERT ZBAS, M.D,

BY ME., PAPPALARDO:

Doctor, there isn't an absence of the curvature,
he still has a sway back?

Sure. I think vou can see it. Hut T think vou
can also see that it is not the usgsual type of
curvé we get, what we call the normal lordosis.
¥ just disagree with that and I'm willing to
show why 1 disagree with that.

Iin other words, vou disagree with the
radiologist.

I certainly do on that view.

In your report, of course, vou say there is
perhaps minimal straightening of the lowe:
lumbar lordotic curve?

Yes.

You don't actually say there is, you say may be?
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1 A Yes. I think I can show that right here.

2 Q. May be?‘

3 A Yeg.

4 MR. PAPPALARDO: Okay . That's all

5 ¥ have, thanks.

6 ME. PARTIS: Thank vou, doctor.

7 Will you waive your signature to the reading of
e deposition?

9 THE WITNESS Yesg, T will.

7.0 MR. PARIS: Thank vyou. And the
11 viewing of the deposition?

12 THE WITNESS: Yeg, T will.

13 THE VIDEOTAPE OPERATOR: This now

14 concludes the deposgition.
15 {(Signature waived.)

16
17
18
19
20

21
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The State of Ohio, ) S8
County of Cuyahoga.)

I, Bawn M. BRagestrom, a Notary Public
within and for the State of Ohio, authorized to
administer oathg and to take and certify
depositions, do hereby certify thatlt the
above-named ROBERT DAVID ZAAH M.D, Was by me,
beffore the giving of his deposition, first duly
sworn to testify the truth, the whole truth, and
nothing but the truth; that the deposition as
above-set forth was reduced to writing by me by
means of stenotypy, and was later transcribed
into typewriting under my direction; that thisg
is a true record of the testimony given by the
witness, and the rveading and gigning of the
deposition wag expregsly waived by the witness
and by stipulation of counsel; that gsaid
deposgition was taken at the aforementioned time,
date and place, pursuant to notice or
atipulation of counsel; and that I am not a
relative or employee or attorney of any of the
parties, or a relative or emplovee of such
attorney, or financially interested in this
action.

IN WITHNESS WHERFKEOF, I have hereunto sot my
hand and seal of Oﬁfl&@! at Cleveland, Ohio,
this _3nd day of (DoRowlaorn BB,

19 5.

Dawn M. Hagestrom, Not&t§\“ub]3v atato of Ohio
650 Enginecers BUlldlhgy Cleveland, Ohio 44114
My commigsion expires Ocitober 20, 1987




